IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

TRUDI LEE LYTLE; AND JOHN ALLEN LYTLE, AS TRUSTEES OF THE LYTLE TRUST,

Appellant,

v.

MARJORIE B. BOULDEN, TRUSTEE OF THE MARJORIE B. BOULDEN TRUST; LINDA LAMOTHE; AND JACQUES LAMOTHE, TRUSTEES OF THE JACQUES & LINDA LAMOTHE LIVING TRUST,

Respondents.

Appeal

From the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County Honorable Timothy Williams, Judge

Appellants' Opening Brief

(Docket 73039)

RICHARD HASKIN

Nevada Bar No. 11592

GIBBS, GIDEN, LOCHER, TURNER, SENET, & WITTBRODT, LLP

1140 N. Town Center Drive Las Vegas, Nevada 89144 (702) 836-9800

Attorneys for Appellants

Jurisdictional Statement

The Supreme Court has jurisdiction via NRAP 3A(b)(3). On April 26, 2017, the district court granted Marjorie B. Boulden, Trustee of the Marjorie B. Boulden Trust, Linda Lamothe and Jacques Lamothe, Trustees of the Jacques & Linda Lamothe Living Trust's (collectively, "Respondents") Motion for Partial Summary Judgment to quiet title to property and for cloud on title, and in doing so granted a permanent injunction prohibiting Trudi Lee Lytle, John Allen Lytle, as Trustees of the Lytle Trust ("Appellants"), from enforcing a judgement obtained in civil litigation against Respondents' real properties.

Routing Statement

Pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(7), the case is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals because it is an appeal from an order granting injunctive relief.

However, Appellants contend the case should be heard by the Supreme Court due to its familiarity with the issues and matters at hand. The Supreme Court has considered and determined appeals related to Appellants and Rosemere Estate Property Owners' Association, which issues are unique and involved herein. See Dockets 60657, 61308, 65721, 63942, 65294.

///

///

Issue Presented

1. Whether the district court erred in granting a permanent injunction after finding that Appellants clouded title to Respondents' properties when Appellants recorded abstracts of judgment awarded to Appellants in a separate civil action against Respondents' homeowners' association, Rosemere Estates Property Owners' Association (the "Association")?

Statement of the Case

Appellants appeal the district court's Amended Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law whereby the district court issued a permanent injunction prohibiting Appellants from recording an abstract of judgment or other judgment lien against Respondents' real property. Order Granting Motion to Alter or Amend Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law ("Amended Order"), Appellants' Index ("AA") 000550 - 000556.

A. Statement of Facts

1. The Association

On January 4, 1994, Baughman & Turner Pension Trust (the "Developer"), as the subdivider of a cul-de-sac to be made up of nine (9) residential lots on a street known as Rosemere Court in Las Vegas, Nevada, recorded with the Clark County Recorder's Office a Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions ("Original CC&Rs"). Request for Judicial Notice in Support of Opposition to

Motion for Summary Judgment ("RJN for Opp."), Original CC&Rs, AA000155 – 000156, 000159, *see also* RJN for Opp, Order Granting Motion for Summary Judgment, AA000167. Appellants purchased their property, Lot 163-03-313-009 ("Appellants' Property") on November 6, 1996, from the original buyer who first purchased it from the Developer on August 25, 1995. *Id.*, AA000167.

Respondents each own property within the Association. Complaint, AA000001 - 000002. In or about August 2017, Respondents Robert Z. Disman, an individual, and Yvonne A. Disman (collectively the "Dismans") purchased the real property formerly belonging to Respondent Boulden. The Dismans are the current owners and were added to this Appeal by this Court on December 5, 2017.

The Original CC&Rs, in the first paragraph, defines Rosemere Estates as "Lots 1 through 9 of Rosemere Court, a subdivision..." RJN for Opp., Original CC&Rs, AA000159. The document adds that "it is the desire and intention of the Subdivider to sell the land described above and to impose on it mutual, beneficial, covenants, conditions and restrictions under a general plan or scheme of improvement for the benefit of all of the land described above and the future owners of the lots comprising said land." *Id.* Thus, the Association includes each lot, or unit, therein.

Sometime after Appellants purchased their property, a group of homeowners formed the Association. RJN for Opp., Articles of Organization, AA000155 – 000156, 000164. In 1997, Respondents, acting on behalf of all owners, filed Non-

Profit Articles of Incorporation (the "Articles") pursuant to Nevada Revised Statutes ("NRS") 82, which formalized the property owners' committee and named it "Rosemere Estates Property Owners Association." *Id.* It was the intention of the homeowners to formalize the "owners committee" referenced in the Original CC&Rs. RJN for Opp, Order Granting Motion for Summary Judgment, Finding of Fact ("FOF") Nos. 14, 15, AA000155 – 000156, AA000168.

2. The Underlying Litigation

In 2007, Appellants filed a NRS 38.310 mandated non-binding arbitration before the Nevada Real Estate Division ("NRED"), naming the Association as respondent. The underlying dispute arose out of the Amended Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions (the "Amended CC&Rs") which were recorded by the Association's Board of Directors on July 3, 2007, and enforced by the Association against Appellants, and Appellants' Property. Appellants sought to un-cloud title to their property through the revocation of the Amended CC&Rs.

After the arbitrator found in favor of the Association, Appellants filed for a trial de novo in district court, case number A-09-593497-C (the "Underlying Litigation"), which was assigned to Judge Michelle Leavitt in Department XII of the Eighth Judicial District Court. After the matter was initially dismissed by the

Throughout the district court litigation, Respondents disingenuously refer to the Association as the "Rosemere LPA" or "Rosemere Limited Purpose Association." There is no such entity. The Association is a Chapter 82 corporation, formed pursuant to the laws of the State of Nevada, to formalize the "owners' committee" referenced in the Original CC&Rs and named "Rosemere Estates Property Owners' Association." RJN for Opp, Order Granting Motion for Summary Judgment, FOF Nos. 14, 15, AA000155 – 000156, AA000168.

district court, Appellants appealed to the Supreme Court, prevailed, and the matter was then remanded back to the district court.

Appellants ultimately prevailed, entirely, in the Underlying Litigation, and the district court granted Appellants summary judgment on July 29, 2013. RJN for Opp., Order Granting Summary Judgment, AA000166 - 000177. In doing so, the district court found the Amended CC&Rs were improperly adopted and unlawfully recorded. *Id.* at AA000176. The district court ordered that the Amended CC&Rs were *void ab initio*. *Id.* Finally, the district court ordered the Association to release the recording of the Amended CC&Rs, which revocation was ultimately accomplished. *Id.*

The matter was once again appealed, and the Nevada Supreme Court affirmed the district court's Order Granting Appellants' summary judgment. RJN for Opp., Supreme Court Order, AA000155 -000156, 000179 - 000183. The Supreme Court remanded the case to the district court for redetermination of costs, attorneys' fees and damages on October 19, 2015. *Id*.

On May 25, 2016, after hearing Appellants' motion for attorneys' fees, the Court awarded Appellants \$297,072.66 in attorneys' fees pursuant to the Original CC&Rs, Amended CC&Rs and NRS 116.4117. RJN for Opp., Order Awarding Attorneys' Fees, AA000155 – 000156, 000186 - 000189.

///

///

On June 17, 2016, after a prove-up hearing, the district court awarded Appellants damages in the amount of \$63,566.93. Order Awarding Damages, RJN for Opp., Order Awarding Damages, AA000155 – 000156, 000189 – 000192. These damages included amounts expended by Appellants in the design, engineering, and other costs associated with the construction of their home for Rosemere Estates, all of which were now stale and useless. *Id*.

Finally, on February 13, 2014, the district court awarded Appellants \$1,962.80 in costs. Then, after remand from the Supreme Court, the district Court awarded Appellants' additional costs in the amount of \$599.00 on July 22, 2016.

RJN for Opp, Order Awarding Costs, AA000155 – 000156, 000193 – 000194.

On September 2, 2016, Appellants recorded abstracts of judgment against each property within the Association pursuant to the authorities set forth herein.

RJN for Opp, Abstracts of Judgment, AA000155 – 000156, 000195 - 000220.

3. The Financial Burden Of The Litigation Against The Appellants

While Respondents constantly characterized themselves as victims in this case, quite the opposite is true. Allen Lytle, now retired from Southwest Gas, and Trudi Lytle, a retired school teacher, were forced to bear a tremendous financial and emotional burden in fighting the Association for over seven (7) years. The fight was necessitated by the Association's unwillingness to revoke the illegally recorded Amended CC&Rs as well as the Association's unconscionable threats

and actions to foreclose against Appellant's property when Appellants dared not to pay a special assessment to fund litigation against them.

Appellants' legal fight was necessary because, as the district court found in the Underlying Litigation

- the Amended CC&Rs created unreasonable restrictions on construction that made it impossible for Appellants to build their home. RJN for Opp., Order Granting Summary Judgment, Findings of Fact ("FOF") Nos. 28-30, AA 000155 – 000156, 000170.
- the Board for the Association took unlawful steps to amend the
 CC&Rs, which included the failure to obtain unanimous consent of
 the homeowners. RJN for Opp., Order Granting Summary Judgment,
 Conclusions of Law, Nos. 22, 23, AA 000155 000156, 000169.
- the promotion and purported adoption of the Amended CC&Rs was procedurally unconscionable in as much as the Board forced the Amended CC&Rs to a vote with no advanced notice or discussion.
 RJN for Opp., Order Granting Summary Judgment, FOF, Nos. 23, 24, 32, 33, AA 000155 000156, 000169.

Meanwhile, Respondents contributed heartily to the legal fund against Appellants (by way of payment of special assessments). Respondents also each testified on the Association's behalf. Declaration of Richard E. Haskin ("Haskin Decl."), AA000147 - 000154.

Interestingly, Respondents both refused, initially, to approve the Amended CC&Rs, declining to sign in favor on the day of the adoption meeting. Lamothe sought legal counsel with Appellants to file suit against the Association but ultimately refused to join the fight for fear of retribution. Years later, during deposition, Respondents, now testifying on the Association's behalf, recanted their objection to the Amended CC&Rs and testified that they approved of the Amended CC&Rs after further thought. Haskin Decl., ¶ 3, Lamothe Deposition Transcript, AA000147 – 000154.

Appellants seek to recover the funds they lost because of the Association's actions, which amounts were awarded to Appellants by the district court in the Underlying Litigation.²

B. Procedural History

Respondents filed this lawsuit on December 8, 2016, seeking to quiet title to their respective properties and setting forth claims for quiet title, cloud on title, and slander of title. Complaint, AA000001 – 000009, see also First Amended Complaint, AA000122 - 000132.

On April 26, 2017, after a hearing, the district court granted Respondents' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on all claims. *See* Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Order Granting Motion for Partial Summary Judgment ("Order"), AA000275 - 000282. Therein, the district court granted a permanent

² The Association did not appeal the district court's orders regarding damages, attorneys' fees or costs.

injunction against Appellants. *Id.* The district court also entered an order granting summary judgment as to Respondents' slander of title claim. *Id.*

On May 16, 2017, the Trust filed a Motion for Reconsideration as to the slander of title claim, arguing that the district court made no findings with respect to malice, oppression, or fraud, and, therefore, a finding of slander of title was unwarranted. Motion for Reconsideration, AA000380 – 000418. That Motion for Reconsideration was heard on June 29, 2017, and was granted, and the district court entered Amended Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law ("Amended Findings"), withdrawing any findings related to Respondents' slander of title claim. Amended Order, AA000550 - 000556.

Summary of Argument

The district court erred in granting Respondents a permanent injunction when the district court erroneously concluded that because the Association was declared a *limited purpose association* in the Underlying Litigation, NRS 116.3117 did not apply and afford Appellants the right to place a judgment lien against Respondents' real property located within the Association. The district court errored in several respects. First, at all times during the Underlying Litigation, from which the monetary judgment was awarded, the Association operated a unit owners' association that enjoyed all of the rights and benefits of NRS Chapter 116 and also undertook the Chapter's burdens and obligations. Indeed, the district court in the Underlying Litigation, citing *Mackintosh v. California Federal Sav.* &

Loan Ass'n (1997) 113 Nev. 393, 405-406, 935 P.2d 1154, 1162, made such a finding in awarding Appellants attorneys' fees incurred therein pursuant to NRS 116.4117 and the Amended CC&Rs, even though the district court had declared such Amended CC&Rs *void ab initio*.

Further, the statutory construction of NRS Chapter 116 and principles of common-interest community law provide a judgment creditor with the right to record a lien against all units within the Association because such units, whether they be owned or unowned, are defined as a physical portion of the common-interest community. Thus, the Association includes all units therein. NRS 116.021, NRS 116.093.

Argument

- I. THE DISTRICT ERRED IN GRANTING THE PERMANENT
 INJUNCTION
 - A. The Court Should Apply A De Novo Standard Of Review To The

 District Court's Granting A Permanent Injunction

A district court's granting of an injunction is generally reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard, or if the decision was based on an erroneous legal standard. *Univ. and Comm. College System of Nevada v. Nevadans for Sound Govt.*, 120 Nev. 712, 721, 100 P.3d 179, 187 (2004), see also Attorney General v. NOS Communications, 120 Nev. 65, 67, 84 P.3d 1052, 1053 (2004); S.O.C., Inc. v. The Mirage Casino–Hotel, 117 Nev. 403, 407, 23 P.3d 243, 246 (2001); Dangberg

Holdings v. Douglas Co., 115 Nev. 129, 142–43, 978 P.2d 311, 319 (1999). While factual determinations will be set aside when clearly erroneous or not supported by substantial evidence, questions of law are reviewed de novo. *Univ. and Comm.*College Systems of Nevada, 120 Nev. at 721, 100 P.3d at 187.

In the present case, this Court should review the district court's order de novo. Questions of statutory construction are reviewed de novo. *I. Cox Constr. Co., LLC v. CH2 Invs., LLC*, 129 Nev. 139, 142, 296 P.3d 1202, 1203 (2013), see also Univ. and Comm. College Systems of Nevada, 120 Nev. at 721, 100 P.3d at 187; (holding that questions of law are reviewed de novo, even in the context of an appeal from a preliminary injunction.) In Univ. and Comm. College Systems of Nevada, the appellants argued the district court committed legal errors in issuing a preliminary injunction through, what appellants contended was, an erroneous interpretation of NRS 293.127565. *Id.* The Supreme Court reviewed the district court's decision de novo, giving a thorough and impressive academic review of the statute in affirming part of the district court's holding and reversing another portion. *Id.* 120 Nev. at 736, 296 P.3d at 196.

In Boulder Oaks Comm. Ass'n. v. B&J Andrews Enterprises, LLC, 125 Nev. 397, 215 P.3d 27 (2009), the Supreme Court reviewed a district court's granting of a preliminary injunction on a de novo standard where the district court considered the application of NRS, Chapter 116, to an association's determination that a homeowners' consent was not required to amend CC&Rs. Id., 125 Nev. at 403-04,

215 P.3d at 31.

In the present case, the district court determined certain provisions of the Common-Interest Ownership Act (NRS, Chapter 116) did not apply and provide rights and remedies to Appellants. Amended Order, FOF No. 9, Conclusions of Law ("COL") No. 2, AA000550 - 000556. In order to reach this conclusion, the district court first concluded that the Association was a limited purpose association pursuant to NRS 116.1201 and, therefore, certain provisions of Chapter 116 did not apply. *Id.*, FOF Nos. 8, 9, COL No. 2, AA000552, 000553. Appellants contend, however, for the reasons set forth herein, that specific provisions of Chapter 116 apply and provide the basis for Appellants' right to record abstracts of judgment against Respondents' properties. Therefore, this Court should review the district court's determination de novo.

B. The District Court Erred In Finding Respondents Were Likely To Prevail On The Merits

"NRS 33.010(1) authorizes an injunction when it appears from the complaint that the plaintiff is entitled to the relief requested and at least part of the relief consists of restraining the challenged act. Before a preliminary injunction will issue, the applicant must show '(1) a likelihood of success on the merits; and (2) a reasonable probability that the non-moving party's conduct, if allowed to continue, will cause irreparable harm for which compensatory damage is an inadequate remedy.' In considering preliminary injunctions, courts also weigh the potential

hardships to the relative parties and others, and the public interest." *Univ. and Comm. College Systems of Nevada*, 120 Nev. at 721, 100 P.3d at 187, see also S.O.C., 117 Nev. at 407, 23 P.3d at 246 (2001); *Dangberg Holdings*, 115 Nev. at 142–43, 978 P.2d at 319.

In the present case, the issue before the district court, and indeed this Supreme Court, is the Plaintiffs'/Respondents' likelihood of success on the merits. Respondents, ultimately, cannot make such a showing because NRS 116.3117, and other provisions of the Common-Interest Ownership Act authorize Appellants to lien Respondents' properties, as set forth below.

1. The District Court Erred In Finding That NS 116.3117 Does Not Apply To The Association Because The Association Is A Limited Purpose Association

The district court found that: (1) "The Association is a 'limited purpose association' as referenced in NRS 116.1201(2); and (2) "As a limited purposes association, NRS 116.3117 is not applicable to the Association." Amended Order, FOF No. 9, COL No. 2, AA000552, 000553. The second of these conclusions is erroneous.

Appellants are within their rights, as judgment creditors of the Association, to record a lien against each unit within the Association because (1) NRS 116.3117 provides this specific right to judgment creditors of a unit owners' association, (2) Appellants may invoke all of the rights set forth in the entirety of Chapter 116

because the Association invoked such rights during the underlying litigation (and prior thereto), and (3) Chapter 116's statutory mechanism provides such rights to Appellants.

a. NRS 116.3117 Permits A Judgment Creditor To Record A Lien Against All Units Within An Association

When a statute is facially clear, the Court should give effect the statute's plain meaning. *D.R. Horton, Inc. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court (First Light I)*, 123 Nev. 468, 476, 168 P.3d 731, 737 (2007). "[W]hen a term is defined in NRS Chapter 116, the statutory definition controls and any definition that conflicts will not be enforced." *Boulder Oaks Cmty. Ass'n v. B & J Andrews Enters., LLC*, 125 Nev. 397, 406, 215 P.3d 27, 32 (2009). Further, NRS 116.003 states that "the words and terms defined in NRS 116.005 to 116.095, inclusive, have the meanings ascribed to them in those sections." *Id.*

NRS 116.3117 provides, in pertinent part:

- 1. In a condominium or planned community:
- (a) Except as otherwise provided in paragraph (b), a judgment for money against the association, if a copy of the docket or an abstract or copy of the judgment is recorded, is not a lien on the common elements, but is a lien in favor of the judgment

lienholder against all of the other real property of the association and all of the units in the common-interest community at the time the judgment was entered. No other property of a unit's owner is subject to the claims of creditors of the association.

[Emphasis added.] Quite succinctly, Nevada's Common-Interest Ownership Act, set forth in Chapter 116, provides a judgment creditor has a lien "against all of the units in the common-interest community at the time the judgment was entered." NRS 116.3117(1)(a).

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