#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

No. 73039

Electronically Filed
Mar 09 2018 10:54 a.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

# TRUDI LEE LYTLE; AND JOHN ALLEN LYTLE, AS TRUSTEES OF THE LYTLE TRUST,

Appellant,

VS.

# MARJORIE B. BOULDEN, TRUSTEE OF THE MARJORIE BOULDEN TRUST; LINDA LAMOTHE; AND JACQUES LAMOTHE, TRUSTEES OF THE JACQUES & LINDA LAMOTHE LIVING TRUST

Respondents.

District Court Case No. A-16-747800-C

# Respondents' Answering Brief

Daniel T. Foley, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 1078 FOLEY & OAKES, PC 626 So. 8<sup>th</sup> Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 Tel.: (702) 384-2070 Fax: (702) 384-2128

dan@foleyoakes.com

Attorneys for Respondents

## **JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

Respondents accept the Appellants' Jurisdictional Statement.

# **ROUTING STATEMENT**

Pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(7), the case is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals because it is an appeal from an order granting injunctive relief.

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS 1 2 DISCLOSURE STATEMENT......i 3 JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT......i 4 ROUTING STATEMENT......i 5 TABLE OF CONTENTS.....ii, iii TABLE OF AUTHORITIES.....iv. v 7 STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ...... I. 8 STATEMENT OF THE CASE...... II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS...... III. 10 11 12 B. The Underlying Suit And Declaratory Judgment Sought And 13 Obtained By Appellants......3 14 C. The Subject Litigation.....8 15 16 IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT......10 17 V. 18 A. The Parties Agree That There Are No Questions Of Material 19 Fact And This Case Involves Only Issues Of Law......12 20 B. NRS 116.3117 Has No Application Whatsoever To The 21 Original Cc&Rs, The Corporation, The Home Owners' 22 Committee, Or The Limited Purpose Association And Cannot Be Used To Attach The Subject Judgment 23 To Respondents' Property......12 24 1. The Underlying Summary Judgment, Requested, 25 Obtained And Drafted By Appellants, Specifically 26 Declared The Subdivision And/Or The Corporation To Be A Limited Purpose Association That Is Not 27 Governed by NRS 116......12 28

1	
2	2. The Respondents Were Not Parties To The Underlying
3	Suit And Were Not Parties, Debtors, Or Obligors
4	<u>Under The Underlying Judgment</u> 13
5	3. The Original CC&RS Do Not Create Any Joint Lightities For The Proporties That Are Engumbered
6	<u>Liabilities For The Properties That Are Encumbered</u> <u>Thereby, But Instead The Original CC&amp;RS Mandate</u>
7	Exactly The Opposite14
8	
9	C. NRS 116.3117 Has No Application Whatsoever To The Original Cc&Rs, The Corporation, The Home Owners'
10	Committee, Or The Limited Purpose Association And
11	Cannot Be Used To Attach The Subject Judgment To Respondents' Property15
12	
13	D. Appellants Misinterpret And Misapply This Court's Decision In Mackintosh
14	
15	E. The Only Potential Use Of The Shield And Sword Is By The Appellants
16	E. Annallanta' Lincon Statutony Deforance'' Angument
17	F. Appellants' Linear Statutory Reference" Argument Is Completely Unsupported, Impossible Under The
18	Original CC&Rs, And Internally Inconsistent23
19	VI. CONCLUSION
20	ATTORNEY'S CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE28,29
21	
22	CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE29, 30
23	
24	
25	
26	
27	
28	

# 1 TABLE OF AUTHORITIES 2 3 **CASES** 4 5 Bacher v. State Engineer 6 122 Nev. 1110, 1117, 146 P.3d 793, 798 (2006)......26 7 Sheriff v. Burcham 8 124 Nev. at 1253, 198 P.3d at 329......26 Catanio 10 120 Nev. At 1033, 102 P.3d at 590......25 11 D.R. Horton, Inc. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court (First Light I) 12 123 Nev. 468, 476, 168 P.3d 737 (2007)......25 13 Golden Pisces, Inc. v. Fred Wahl Marine Construction, Inc., 14 15 Great Basin Water Network v. Taylor 16 17 Mackintosh v. California Federal Sav. & Loan Ass'n ., 18 113 Nev. 393, 935 P.2d 1154 (1997)......11, 17, 18, 19, 20 19 Robert E. v. Justice Court 20 99 Nev. 443, 445, 664 P.2d 957, 959 (1983)......25 21 State v. Lucero 127 Nev. 92, 95, 249 P.3d 1226, 1228 (2011)......25 22 23 State v. White 330 P.3d 482 (Nev. 2014)......25 24 25 26 **STATUTES** 27 NRS 82......4 28

1	NRS 1161, 2, 11, 12, 15, 16, 23, 24, 25, 26
2	NRS 116.12016, 7, 9, 12, 15, 16
3 4	NRS 116.1201(2)
5	NRS 116.1201(2)(a)
6	NRS 116.1201 (2)(a)(1-5)
7 8	NRS 116.1201 (2)(a)(5)6
9	NRS 116.21177
10	NRS 16.3103823
11   12	NRS 116.3107323
13	NRS 116.3107523
14	NRS 116.3108323
15	NRS 116.3115223
<ul><li>16</li><li>17</li></ul>	NRS 116.3115523
18	NRS 116.3115823
19 20	NRS 116.311710, 11, 12, 15, 16, 17, 18, 23, 24, 26, 27
21	NRS 116.410123
22	NRS 116.4117(2)(b)(1)
23	NRS 116.41223
24	
25	
26	
<ul><li>27</li><li>28</li></ul>	
-	

# I. <u>STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES</u>

Except for some nomenclature discussed further below, Respondents accept the Appellants' Statement of the Issues.

# II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondents accept the Appellants' Statement of the Case.

# III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondents take issue with Appellants' loose use of the words "home owners' association" and "association" and otherwise believe a separate Statement of Facts is needed.

#### A. Creation Of The Rosemere Subdivision And CC&Rs

- 1. Appellants and Respondents agree that the Baughman & Turner Pension Trust, the developer of the Rosemere Court subdivision (the "Subdivision"), recorded CC&Rs on the 9-unit Subdivision on or about January 4, 1994 (the "Original CC&Rs"). AA000046 000049.
- 2. Appellants and Respondents agree that the Original CC&Rs did not create a NRS 116 home owners' association but instead simply subjected the 9-unit Subdivision to the mutually beneficial covenants, conditions and restrictions set for in the Original CC&Rs. AA000067, lines 8 14.

- 3. Appellants and Respondents agree that the Original CC&Rs, paragraph numbered 21, required the homeowners in the Subdivision to create a "property owners' committee" to oversee the landscaping, the entrance way planters, the exterior perimeter walls, the entrance gate, and the entry drive for ingress and egress purposes. AA000067, lines 15 19. There is no "common area" within the Subdivision. AA000052. All 9 lots extend to the center of the streets and/or the entry way. AA000052.
- 4. Appellants and Respondents agree that pursuant to the Original CC&Rs' mandate that a property owner's committee be created, the property owners within the Subdivision created a non-profit corporation in 1997 to provide a corporate vehicle that could open a bank account for the committee. AA000067 lines 20 25. The non-profit corporation was named the Rosemere Estate's Property Owners' Association (the "Corporation"). AA000067. lines 20 25.
- 5. Appellants and Respondents agree that the creation of the Corporation did not create a NRS 116 home owners' association as there was no intent to do so and no bylaws, regulations, or rules, etc. were ever adopted as part of the Corporation. AA000067, lines 20 25.
- 6. Appellants and Respondents agree that in July 2007, 5 or 6 of the 9 home owners in the Subdivision (less than 67%), voted to amend the Original CC&Rs. AA000065, lines 12 15. The proposed amended CC&Rs were

significantly more expansive, complex, and different than the Original CC&Rs (the "Amended CC&Rs"). AA000064, lines 4-22.

7. The Appellants and the Respondents did not vote to approve the Amended CC&Rs. AA000138, lines 1-2. Thereafter two of the homeowners recorded the Amended CC&Rs. AA000065, lines 16-18, AA000222 - 000260. Again, the Appellants and the Respondents were not involved in the recording of the Amended CC&Rs. AA000258.

# B. The Underlying Suit And Declaratory Judgment Sought And Obtained By Appellants.

- 8. In response to the recording of the Amended CC&Rs and in an effort to have the Amended CC&Rs judicially determined to be invalid, the Appellants filed suit against the Corporation (the home owner's committee), Case #09-593497-C (the "Underlying Suit") AA000037 000041. The Appellants ultimately obtained a Summary Judgment for Declaratory Relief from Judge Michelle Leavitt declaring that the Amended CC&Rs were improperly amended, improperly recorded, were invalid, had no force or effect and were void *ab initio*. (the "Underlying Summary Judgment") AA000060 000071.
- 9. Judge Leavitt, at the Appellants' specific requests in the pleadings and Motion for Summary Judgment, made the following Findings of Undisputed Facts, Legal Determinations, and Judgments:

## **Finding Of Undisputed Material Facts**

- 1. On January 4, 1994, Baughman & Turner Pension Trust (the "Developer"), as the subdivider of a cul-de-sac to be made up of nine (9) residential lots on a street known as Rosemere Court in Las Vegas, Nevada, recorded with the Clark County Recorder's Office a Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions ("Original CC&Rs). AA000061, lines 5-8.
- 2. The Original CC&Rs consist of four (4) pages and 25 paragraphs, with no bylaws annexed, no amendment provision, and no homeowners association, as defined by Chapter 116. AA000061, lines 9-10.
- 3. The Original CC&Rs create a "property owners' committee" with very limited maintenance duties over specific common area items (exterior walls and planters, entrance way and planters, entrance gate, and the private street), which are specifically set forth in Paragraph 21 of the Original CC&Rs. AA000061, lines 11-14.
- 4. The Original CCR&s then grant each homeowner, and not any homeowners' association, the power to enforce the Original CC&Rs against one another. AA000061, lines 15 16.
- 11. The primary reasons that the Lytles selected the property were limited restrictions contained in the Original CC&Rs and the lack of a "unit-owners association," as that term is legally defined by Chapter 116 of the Nevada Revised Statutes ("NRS"). AA000062, lines 3-5.
- 15. In 1997, two owners, acting on behalf of all owners, filed a Non-Profit Articles of Incorporation (the "Articles") pursuant to NRS 82, which formalized the property owners' committee and named it "Rosemere Estates Property Owners Association." AA000062, lines 13 15.
- 34. The Amended CC&Rs were not agreed to by all property owners at the July 2, 2007 meeting. In fact, only five of the property owners approved, with three property owners who

refused to sign the amendment. A fourth homeowner submitted a disputed proxy that was not counted by the board. AA000065, lines 12-15.

35. Despite the failure to obtain the required unanimous approval for amending the Original CC&Rs, the Association proceeded, on July 3, 2007, to record the Amended CC&Rs in the office of the Recorder for Clark County, Nevada. AA000065, lines 16 - 18.

# **Legal Determinations**

- 5. Plaintiff's Cause of Action for Declaratory Relief seeks (1) a declaration from the Court that Amended CC&Rs were not properly adopted by the members of the Association and were improperly recorded against the Plaintiff's Property, and (2) a permanent injunction against the Association from adopting further amendments without unanimous consent. AA000066, lines 9-12.
- 6. Summary Judgment as to the Declaratory Relief Cause of Action is warranted based on the Court's finding that the Amended CC&R's were not adopted with unanimous consent, as required, and were, therefore, improperly recorded against Plaintiff's Property. AA000066, lines 13-15.
- 11. Here, no Chapter 116 unit-owners' association was formed because no association was organized prior to the date the first unit was conveyed. The Association was not formed until February 25, 1997, more than three years after Rosemere Estates was formed and the Original CC&Rs were recorded (emphasis added). AA000067, lines 8-11.
- 12. Further, the Association did not have any powers beyond those of the "property owners committee" designated in the original CC&Rs simply to care for the landscaping and other common elements of Rosemere Estates as set forth in Paragraph 21 of the Original CC&Rs. AA000067, lines 12 14.

- 13. The Original CC&Rs provide for the creation of a "property owners' committee," which is a "limited purpose association," as defined by the 1994 version of NRS 116.1201, then in effect. The provision provided that Chapter 116 did not apply to "Associations created for the limited purpose of maintaining... "[t]he landscape of the common elements of a common interest community..." (emphasis added). AA000067, lines 15-19.
- 14. In 1997, Rosemere Estates' owners formed the Association for the express and limited purpose of (1) tending to limited matters set forth in Paragraph 21 of the Original CC&Rs, (2) holding a bank account in which to deposit and withdraw funds for the payment of the limited common area expenses assigned to the Owners Committee, and (3) purchasing liability insurance. The intent was never to form a unit-owners' association within the meaning of Chapter 116. AA000067, lines 20 25.
- 15. A limited purpose association cannot enforce "any restrictions concerning the use of units by the units' owners, unless the limited-purpose association is created for a rural agricultural residential common-interest community." NRS 116.1201 (2)(a)(5). There is no question that Rosemere Estates was not "created for a rural agricultural residential common-interest community," hence the Association cannot enforce "any restrictions concerning the use of units by the units' owners…" AA000068, lines 1-6.
- 17. In keeping with this well-settled and general principal, the Court construes the Original CC&Rs pursuant to the plain meaning of the language therein. Nowhere is there reference in the Original CC&Rs to a "unit-owner' association" or "homeowners association." Rather, the Developer created a 116.1201 limited purpose association termed a "property owners' committee," and the Developer provided that committee with limited rather than comprehensive, duties and powers (emphasis added). AA000068, lines 14-19.

- 18. Consistent with the absence of a governing body, e.g. unit-owners' association, delegated with duty to enforce the Original CC&Rs, the Developer provided each homeowner the right to independently enforce the Original CC&Rs against one another. AA000068, lines 20 22.
- 19. The Association is a limited purpose association under 116.1201, is not a Chapter 116 'unit-owners' association," and is relegated to those specific duties and powers set forth in paragraph 21 of the Original CC&Rs and NRS 116.1201. (emphasis added). AA000068, lines 23-25.
- 20. Because Rosemere Estates is a limited purpose association under NRS 116.1201, NRS 116.2117, the statutory provision governing amendments to the CC&Rs, does not apply here (emphasis added). AA000069, lines 3 5.
- 22. There has never been a unanimous consent to amend the Original CC&Rs. Specifically, unanimous consent was not received in 2007, when the Amended CC&Rs were wrongfully recorded by the Association. AA000069, lines 13 16.

# **Judgment**

#### A. Declaration

25. Pursuant to the foregoing, this Court declares and orders that the Amended CC&Rs were not properly adopted or recorded, that the Amended CC&Rs are invalid, and that the Amended CC&Rs have no force and effect. This order, may be recorded in the Office of the Clark County Recorder's Office by any party and, once recorded, shall be sufficient notice of same. AA000070, lines 8-14.

# **B.** Injunctive Relief

26. The Association is permanently enjoined from recording and enforcing the Amended CC&Rs. The Association is hereby ordered to release the Amended CC&Rs. Document Number 20070703-0001934, recorded with Clark County Recorder on July 3, 2007, within ten (10) court days after the date of Notice of Entry of this Order. AA000070, lines 15 - 19.

- 10. As noted in the caption of the Underlying Suit, Appellants did not include the Respondents as parties to the Underlying Suit. AA000037 and 000041.
- 11. Judge Leavitt, at Appellants' request, three years after the Underlying Summary Judgment, in June 2016, after the Corporation's attorneys had ceased representing the Corporation, awarded Appellants their Attorneys' Fees and Costs in the Underlying Suit against the Corporation in the amount of \$297,072.66 plus \$63,566.93 in damages (the Underlying Judgment"). AA000073 000076.
- 12. Appellants then recorded Abstracts of Judgment of the Underlying Judgment against the Respondent's property within the Subdivision. AA000078 000084.

# C. The Subject Litigation

13. On December 8, 2016, Respondents filed suit against the Appellants to, among other things, remove the Abstracts of Judgment which were clouds against their titles. AA000001 – 000009. After exhaustive briefing and a stipulation between the parties as to all of the material facts, Judge Williams granted Partial Summary Judgment in Respondents' favor, ordered the Abstracts of Judgment stricken from the Recorder's Office records and enjoined the Appellants from further clouding the Respondents' titles. AA000550 – 000556.

14. Judge Williams found the same pertinent undisputed facts made by Judge Leavitt and made basically the same conclusions of law as requested by Appellants and found by Judge Leavitt.

# 15. Specifically, Judge Williams found:

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